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 KETHLEDGE, Circuit Judge.  Michael Benanti was convicted of bank extortion, 

kidnapping, and carjacking, among other crimes.  He now argues that much of the evidence at trial 

should have been excluded—either because the police allegedly violated the Fourth Amendment, 

or because its admission violated Evidence Rule 403.  Benanti also argues that he was entitled to 

a new trial on grounds of prosecutorial misconduct.  We reject his arguments and affirm. 

I. 

 From 2014 to 2015, Michael Benanti and Brian Witham executed a string of bank 

robberies.  The first was old-fashioned: the two men wore masks and brandished sawed-off 

shotguns while directing bank employees to give them cash from the vault.  The others were more 

like bank extortion: Benanti and Witham would kidnap a bank executive along with his family 

and—holding the family hostage—force the executive to bring them cash from the bank’s vault.  

In 2015, for example, Benanti and Witham broke into the Tennessee home of a bank executive, 
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Tanner Harris, and took his wife and infant son hostage.  Benanti and Witham ordered Harris to 

bring them money from the bank’s vault, which Harris did in the amount of $190,000. 

On September 3, 2015, two North Carolina State Highway Patrol cars tried to pull over 

Benanti and Witham (the driver) for speeding.  Witham pulled onto the shoulder, but barely out of 

the traffic lane, and momentarily came to a stop.  Then Benanti opened the passenger door.  As 

the troopers pulled behind them, however, Witham sped away and before long struck three other 

vehicles.  Benanti and Witham then fled into the woods on foot, carrying large black duffel bags.  

Police feared an ambush and gave up the chase. 

Trooper Greg Reynolds, a North Carolina Highway Patrol officer, received the dash-cam 

footage of the September 3rd chase.  He reviewed the footage between five and ten times, noting 

the chase’s irregularity.  He also noticed the passenger’s appearance: white, heavy-set, with a bald 

spot on the back of his head. 

Meanwhile, FBI agents joined the investigation, suspecting that the two men from the chase 

were the same men who had kidnapped a bank executive a few months before.  The agents 

recovered a GPS device from the SUV that the men had crashed during the chase.  From that 

device’s memory, FBI agents obtained coordinates corresponding to an area near a cabin at 124 

Rebel Ridge Road in Maggie Valley, North Carolina.  The cabin’s property manager told them 

that two men had rented the cabin and had recently moved to another at 380 Allison Drive. 

State and federal agents began surveilling that address.  Weeks later, they saw Benanti and 

Witham leave in a Pathfinder SUV with stolen license plates.  The agents notified Reynolds that 

two men suspected of various bank robberies were traveling in a Pathfinder with stolen plates, and 

that the men were suspected to be the same ones who had fled on September 3rd.  Soon Reynolds 

spotted the Pathfinder, confirmed that the plates were stolen, and turned on his emergency lights 
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and siren.  As in the September 3rd chase, the vehicle pulled over, but barely out of the traffic lane.  

The passenger door opened.  Out came a heavy-set white man with a bald spot on the back of his 

head.  He was holding a large black duffel bag.  The Pathfinder then sped back onto the highway, 

just as the SUV on September 3rd had done.  But this time it left the passenger, Benanti, behind.   

Reynolds arrested Benanti, thinking that he was the same passenger who had fled on 

September 3rd.  From Benanti’s clenched fist, Reynolds took a crumpled piece of paper that listed 

the names, home addresses, and bank addresses of three bank executives.  In the duffle bag, the 

police found a camera, monocular scope, and rubber gloves.  Meanwhile, police caught Witham.  

Officers searched the Pathfinder and found another GPS device, a smartphone labeled “Operations 

1,” and black gloves. 

Officers then obtained a search warrant for the cabin at 380 Allison Drive, where they 

found more evidence.  Eventually, a federal grand jury charged Benanti with 23 offenses, including 

conspiracy to commit robbery, armed bank extortion, carjacking, and kidnapping.   

Before trial, Benanti filed two motions to suppress evidence: in the first, he argued that 

Reynolds did not have probable cause to arrest Benanti; in the second, that the affidavit in support 

of the warrant to search the cabin contained false information and failed to establish probable 

cause.  Benanti also asked the district court for a Franks hearing as to whether the officers had 

used false information to obtain that warrant.  The district court denied Benanti’s motions, and 

thereafter conducted a trial with over 40 government witnesses—including Witham.  The jury 

convicted Benanti of all charges.  The court sentenced Benanti to four consecutive life sentences 

plus another 155 years’ imprisonment.  This appeal followed. 
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II. 

A. 

 Benanti argues that the district court should have suppressed the evidence obtained as a 

result of his arrest, which Benanti says Reynolds made without probable cause.  We review the 

district court’s legal conclusions de novo, its factual findings for clear error, and consider the 

evidence in the light most favorable to the district court’s decision.  United States v. Hinojosa, 606 

F.3d 875, 880 (6th Cir. 2010).   

To have probable cause for an arrest, an officer must “be aware of facts and circumstances 

sufficient to allow a prudent person to think the arrestee has committed or is about to commit a 

crime.”  United States v. Price, 841 F.3d 703, 706 (6th Cir. 2016) (internal quotation marks 

omitted).  Benanti argues that such circumstances were absent here, asserting that, when Reynolds 

arrested him, Reynolds knew only that Benanti had been a passenger in an SUV with stolen plates.  

But Reynolds knew more than that.  His supervisor had just informed him that the two men in the 

SUV were suspects from the September 3rd chase, and that they were on the road only fifty miles 

from where the chase had occurred.  Moreover, after Reynolds pulled over the SUV, he noticed 

several similarities to the September 3rd encounter: both involved SUVs with stolen plates; both 

involved two white men; in both, the SUV stopped momentarily just outside the traffic lane, and 

then took off; and in both, the passenger was a white, heavy-set man with a bald spot, carrying a 

black duffel bag.  These common circumstances gave Reynolds ample reason to think that Benanti 

was the same passenger who had fled from police in the chase on September 3rd.  Reynolds 

therefore had probable cause to arrest him. 
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B. 

 Benanti similarly argues that the officers lacked probable cause for their search of the cabin 

at 380 Allison Drive, which they conducted pursuant to a warrant.  We defer to a magistrate judge’s 

finding of probable cause so long as there was a substantial basis for that finding.  See United 

States v. Higgins, 557 F.3d 381, 389 (6th Cir. 2009).  

To show probable cause for a search warrant, officers must give the magistrate judge an 

affidavit demonstrating “a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found in 

a particular place.”  United States v. Brooks, 594 F.3d 488, 492 (6th Cir. 2010) (internal quotation 

marks omitted).  Here, the affidavit summarized the entirety of the agents’ investigation: the two 

abductions of bank employees in Knoxville, the September 3rd chase in a nearby area, Benanti’s 

arrest shortly after leaving the cabin, the surveillance tools in his possession, and the crumpled 

note listing the names and addresses of three bank employees.  These facts provided ample basis 

to search the cabin.   

Benanti counters that the affidavit gave the magistrate judge no reason to think that the two 

abductions and bank robberies were both committed by the same two men.  But the affidavit gave 

several reasons to think that the same men were at work.  Both crimes occurred in Knoxville, only 

a few months apart.  And in both, two masked men forced bank employees to rob their banks while 

the men instructed the employees on a cell phone.  Benanti’s argument is meritless. 

C. 

Benanti next challenges the district court’s denial of his request for a Franks hearing.  We 

review the court’s legal conclusions de novo and its factual findings for clear error.  See United 

States v. Pirosko, 787 F.3d 358, 369 (6th Cir. 2015).  To obtain a Franks hearing, a defendant must 

make a preliminary showing that the affidavit supporting a warrant contained recklessly or 
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knowingly false statements, and that the magistrate judge could not have found probable cause 

without those statements.  See Franks v. Delaware, 438 U.S. 154, 171–72 (1978).   

Benanti asserts that the affiant made several misrepresentations: for example, that the 

affiant failed to disclose that witnesses to the second bank robbery had reported a possible third 

culprit; that the affiant failed to disclose that witnesses to the second bank robbery had disagreed 

about one of the culprits’ race; that the affiant failed to explain that the GPS device yielded a 

latitude and longitude rather than a precise address; and that the affiant falsely said that an officer 

had identified Witham as the driver from the September 3rd chase.  But Benanti has failed to show 

that these alleged inaccuracies were knowing or reckless falsehoods.  And the magistrate judge 

could easily have found probable cause without them.  Hence Benanti’s argument fails. 

D. 

Benanti argues that the district court erred by admitting evidence that he had frequented a 

strip club, cheated on his girlfriend, embezzled from his business, and engaged in fraudulent 

schemes that, he says, were unrelated to the bank robberies.  Specifically, Witham testified at trial 

that, in between robberies, he and Benanti had visited a strip club in Roanoke, Virginia, and that 

Benanti had begun an intimate relationship with a dancer from that club.  Witham also testified 

that Benanti had paid “for companionship,” that Benanti had often met the dancer at hotels, and 

that he and Benanti had tried to hide the affair from Benanti’s girlfriend—who later died.   

The dancer herself testified that Benanti had paid her for “nude lap dances” and that they 

had met at hotels “six to ten times,” where they would “kiss and stuff,” but had stopped short of 

intercourse.  The prosecution solicited considerable detail about these events, with questions like 

“how much would he give you each time y’all were together at the hotel?” and “[s]o the way you 

knew that his back and front body was shaved with the clippers is because he had his clothes off.  
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Is that correct?”  The government also read the dancer a long series of text messages that she and 

Benanti had exchanged, asking her what each meant.  Those messages included some texts about 

location, but also some that were sexually explicit, and another that Benanti sent after his girlfriend 

had died, which read in part: “I am making arrangements to spread her ashes in the Bahamas.  Then 

I plan on coming to see you.”  

Witham also testified about several fraudulent schemes that he and Benanti had planned or 

committed before robbing banks.  For example, they had plotted to kidnap a commodities broker 

and force him to ship gold to them, and they had also engaged in identity theft and credit card 

fraud.  Witham further testified that Benanti had embezzled money from a business in which he 

managed money for inmates. 

Benanti argues that the testimony about his relationship with the dancer violated Evidence 

Rule 403, which provides that a district court may exclude evidence if its “probative value is 

substantially outweighed by a danger of . . . unfair prejudice.”  Benanti did not make that objection 

at trial, however, so we review the admission of this evidence for plain error.  See United States v. 

Ford, 761 F.3d 641, 653 (6th Cir. 2014).   

As for probative value, the government argues that this testimony corroborated Benanti’s 

location and supplemented evidence about injuries that Benanti had sustained while fleeing on foot 

after the September 3rd chase (he fell in the woods).  But much of the detail about Benanti’s affair 

had nothing to do with either asserted purpose.  And that testimony was unfairly prejudicial: it 

described in great detail his liaisons with a stripper whom he paid for sexual favors, while cheating 
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on a girlfriend who was soon to die.  This prejudice overwhelmed whatever minimal probative 

value the testimony had.  The admission of this testimony violated Rule 403. 

But that error (plain or not) did not affect Benanti’s substantial rights.  See United States v. 

Ataya, 884 F.3d 318, 323 (6th Cir. 2018).  The government’s evidence against Benanti was 

overwhelming, including not least the testimony of his confederate, Witham. 

Benanti’s arguments about the other bad-acts evidence fail for the same reason.  Whether 

properly admitted or not, that evidence made no difference to the outcome of Benanti’s trial, given 

the government’s other evidence of guilt.  See, e.g., United States v. Stephens, 549 F.3d 459, 464 

(6th Cir. 2008).  Benanti therefore is not entitled to relief on these grounds.  

E. 

Finally, Benanti challenges the district court’s denial of his motion for a new trial, which 

we review for an abuse of discretion.  See United States v. Munoz, 605 F.3d 359, 366 (6th Cir. 

2010). 

Criminal Rule 33 allows the district court to grant a new trial “if the interest of justice so 

requires.”  Fed. R. Crim. P. 33.  If the defendant asks for a new trial because of new evidence, the 

defendant must establish that the evidence was discovered after trial, could not have been 

discovered earlier with due diligence, is material and not cumulative, and would likely produce an 

acquittal in a new trial.  See United States v. Dubrule, 822 F.3d 866, 885 (6th Cir. 2016). 

Benanti argues that the district court should have granted a new trial, or at least an 

evidentiary hearing, because the prosecution falsely said that the GPS device provided a precise 

address, colluded with his defense attorney to obtain privileged information, fed the media false 

information to inflame the jury venire, and falsely told the jury that only two persons were involved 

in the crimes.  But the record contradicts some of Benanti’s assertions, and Benanti’s new evidence 
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of misconduct is speculative.  Moreover, the alleged misconduct is unlikely to have affected his 

trial’s outcome.  The district court thus did not abuse its discretion by denying Benanti’s motion.  

See United States v. Smith, 749 F.3d 465, 493 (6th Cir. 2014); Slagle v. Bagley, 457 F.3d 501, 527 

(6th Cir. 2006). 

 Benanti’s convictions are affirmed. 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE 

 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, ) 
  ) 
 Plaintiff, ) 
  ) 
v.  )  No.: 3:15-CR-177-TAV-CCS-1 
  ) 
MICHAEL BENANTI, ) 
  ) 
 Defendant. ) 
 
 

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER 
 
 This criminal matter is before the Court for consideration of the Report and 

Recommendation entered by United States Magistrate Judge C. Clifford Shirley, Jr. 

(“R&R”) on October 7, 2016 [Doc. 65].  The R&R addresses the defendant’s Motion to 

Suppress Evidence Obtained at 380 Allison Drive (“Southern Comfort”) [Doc. 33] and 

the defendant’s Omnibus Motion to Suppress All Subsequent Search Warrants [Doc. 34].  

The government responded to the motions [Doc. 46], and Magistrate Judge Shirley held a 

hearing on the motions, along with other motions pending before the Court, on June 2, 

2016 [Doc. 48].  Magistrate Judge Shirley then issued the R&R, recommending that the 

Court deny the defendant’s Motion to Suppress Evidence Obtained at 380 Allison Drive 

[Doc. 33] and that the Court deny the defendant’s Omnibus Motion to Suppress All 

Subsequent Search Warrants [Doc. 34] as moot.1  The defendant has filed objections to 

                                              
1 The defense acknowledged “that if the Court upholds the search of 380 Allison Drive, 

Maggie Valley, North Carolina, that the instant Motion would be rendered moot” [Doc. 34 p. 1 
n.1]. 
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the R&R [Doc. 76], the government responded to those objections [Doc. 81], and the 

defendant replied [Doc. 86].  For the reasons that follow, the Court will overrule the 

defendant’s objections and accept the R&R.  Thus, the defendant’s Motion to Suppress 

Evidence Obtained at 380 Allison Drive (“Southern Comfort”) [Doc. 33] will be denied 

and the defendant’s Omnibus Motion to Suppress All Subsequent Search Warrants [Doc. 

34] will be denied as moot. 

I. Background2 
 
On the morning of April 28, 2015, two armed, white males and a masked white 

female invaded the home of an executive with the Y-12 Federal Credit Union (“the Credit 

Union”), his wife, and their adult son, in Knoxville, Tennessee [Doc. 76-1 ¶ 5].3  The 

perpetrators took the wife’s phone and told the executive to keep his phone in his shirt 

pocket, while continuously connected to his wife’s phone, so that they could monitor his 

                                              
2 The Court’s probable cause determination is typically limited to the four corners of the 

affidavit supporting the search warrant in question.  United States v. Frazier, 423 F.3d 526, 535 
(6th Cir. 2005); United States v. Hatcher, 473 F.2d 321, 323 (1973).  Consequently, the Court 
will summarize the facts recited in the warrant affidavit [Doc. 76-1].  The Court will also, 
however, note information known to the affiant–officer but not presented to the issuing 
magistrate judge, strictly in order to address the applicability of the good-faith exception.  See 
Frazier, 423 F.3d at 535–36 (holding that a court reviewing an officer’s good faith may look 
beyond the four corners of the affidavit to information known to the applying officer). 
 

Additionally, the Court presumes the reader’s familiarity with this case, and it will only 
include facts necessary to the determination of the instant motions. 
 

3 While the affidavit describes the male perpetrators as white, the wife of the Credit 
Union executive stated in an interview that one of the males was white and the other was black 
[Doc. 33-2], the executive stated that one male was white and one was Hispanic, and the son 
stated that both men were white [Doc. 46 p. 30].  The Court will take this information into 
consideration when determining whether the good-faith exception applies. 
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movements [Id. ¶ 8].  The perpetrators then instructed the executive to drive to the Credit 

Union and obtain a large amount of money [Id. ¶ 6].  The executive complied [Id.].  

Once at the Credit Union, however, the executive wrote a note to employees, 

telling them what had occurred [Id. ¶ 9].  One of the employees subsequently called the 

police [Id.].  The executive took a large amount of money from the vault, returned to his 

car, and was soon after approached by responding police officers [Id. ¶ 10].  He told the 

perpetrators over his wife’s phone that the police were approaching him and asked for 

further instruction [Id. ¶ 11].  

While the executive traveled to the Credit Union, the perpetrators had bound and 

blindfolded his wife and son and driven them around in the family’s car, a 2015 Lexus 

[Id. ¶ 7].  After receiving the executive’s warning that police had arrived at the Credit 

Union, the perpetrators aborted the plan, disconnected the phone call, threw the wife’s 

phone out of the car, and abandoned the executive’s family in a parking lot [Id. ¶ 12].  

They then fled in the victims’ car and were not identified or apprehended [Id.].  The 

victims’ Lexus was later found abandoned and burned [Id.].   

Several months later, on the morning of July 7, 2015, a similar crime was 

perpetrated on a second local bank executive and his family [Id. ¶ 13].  Two white males, 

similar in description to the prior robbery, forced their way into another Knoxville home, 

carrying firearms and a crowbar [Id. ¶ 14].  This home was occupied by a SmartBank 

executive, his wife, and their infant son [Id.].  The family barricaded themselves in a 

bathroom, but the intruders pried their way into the bathroom [Id.].  The invaders told the 
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executive that he was going to help them rob SmartBank [Id. ¶ 15].  They instructed the 

executive to put on a shirt with a pocket and ordered the wife, along with the infant, to go 

into the garage, where the wife observed an unknown assault rifle in her son’s stroller 

[Id.].   

The invaders then blindfolded the executive, put a belly-belt around his waist, and 

secured his wrists with handcuffs through the belt [Id. ¶ 16].  They ordered the wife to 

place the infant in the family’s car, a Mazda 6, and then they blindfolded her [Id.].  The 

perpetrators ordered all three family members to sit in the backseat and told them that 

failure to follow instructions could lead to the family’s death [Id.].  While in the car, the 

wife heard one of the perpetrators utilize a GPS device [Id. ¶ 17].   

The perpetrators, now donning old man masks, proceeded to park the car behind 

the SmartBank and removed the executive’s blindfold [Id. ¶ 18].  They told the executive 

to initiate a call between his phone—which was placed in his shirt pocket—and his wife’s 

phone—which was in the perpetrators’ possession [Id.].  They informed the executive 

that they would be monitoring his actions via the phone call, and they threatened to hurt 

his wife and son if he terminated the call or told anyone to call the police [Id.].  The 

perpetrators then gave the executive an empty bag in which to place the money from the 

vault [Id. ¶ 19].   

The executive did as he was instructed—placing $195,000 into the bag and then 

exiting the bank [Id.].  The executive handed the bag over to the perpetrators, who told 

him that his family would not be harmed, but would still not be released, if he cooperated 
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[Id.].  The perpetrators sped away after receiving the money, with the wife and son still in 

the car, while leaving the executive behind in the parking lot [Id.].  During the drive, the 

wife heard the two men talking to another person who was not in the car [Id. ¶ 20].   

The perpetrators then drove to a densely wooded area and told the wife to remain 

in the car for approximately ten minutes, at which point she could exit and find her keys 

on the ground [Id. ¶ 21].  After the perpetrators got out of the car, the wife heard them 

enter another vehicle [Id.].  Several minutes later, the wife found her keys and drove to 

find help [Id.].   

When the Federal Bureau of Investigation (“FBI”) later investigated this event, 

they spoke to the SmartBank executive’s neighbor, who stated that he saw a strange car 

outside the family’s home on the evening of July 1, 2015 [Id. ¶ 22].  He said that there 

were two men and a woman sitting inside the car [Id.]. 

On September 3, 2015, the North Carolina State Highway Patrol (“NCSHP”) 

engaged in a vehicle chase with a car later determined to have been stolen from New 

Hampshire [Id. ¶ 23].4  The two white males driving the vehicle—who FBI agents 

suspected were involved in the previous bank robberies—fled and were pursued on foot 

until the officers believed that proceeding would be dangerous [Id. ¶¶ 23–24].  The men 

consequently escaped [Id. ¶ 23]. 

                                              
4 This chase, as well as the November 25, 2015 incident, are addressed in greater detail 

by the Court is its prior Memorandum Opinion and Order accepting Magistrate Judge Shirley’s 
previous R&R [Doc. 58].  For the purposes of the current analysis, however, the Court will only 
include facts with regard to this event as set forth in the warrant affidavit. 
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Agents then found a GPS device in the abandoned vehicle, and a track on the GPS 

was to the address of 124 Rebel Ridge Road, Canton, North Carolina, which is managed 

by Premier Vacation Rentals (“PVR”) [Id. ¶ 24].  A PVR employee informed agents that 

two white men in their 30s—who had been renting cabins with PVR since June 19, 

2015—had rented the cabin at that address from July 27, 2015, through October 25, 2015 

[Id.].  They then extended their stay at 124 Rebel Ridge to November 15, 2015 [Id.].  The 

two men began renting another PVR property at 380 Allison Drive, Maggie Valley, 

North Carolina, called “Southern Comfort,” on November 16 [Id.].   

The FBI subsequently obtained consent to search the property at 124 Rebel Ridge 

and processed the scene for trace evidence on November 19, 2015 [Id. ¶ 25].  FBI agents 

informed the local sheriff’s office of their ongoing investigation, and the sheriff’s office 

agreed to conduct physical surveillance of Southern Comfort in order to determine if 

there were new vehicles arriving or whether there was probable cause to make an arrest 

of the suspects [Id.].   

On November 24, 2015, officers conducting surveillance at Southern Comfort 

observed a Toyota Highlander with a South Carolina license tag leave the property, 

driven by a white male [Id. ¶ 26].  They continued monitoring that vehicle as it drove to a 

gas station and until it returned to Southern Comfort [Id.].  A registration check of the 

Highlander tag returned to a GMC Yukon [Id.].   

The next day, officers observed a Nissan Pathfinder, occupied by two white males, 

leaving Southern Comfort [Id. ¶ 27].  They determined that the vehicle had stolen license 
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tags from Maryland, and they later discovered that the vehicle was also stolen from 

Maryland [Id. ¶¶ 27, 28].  NCSHP officers were notified, a traffic stop of the vehicle was 

attempted, and a chase ensued [Id. ¶ 27].  The driver eventually stopped, the passenger 

door opened, and a white male, later identified as the defendant, exited the Pathfinder 

[Id.].  He was immediately taken into custody [Id.].  The driver then proceeded to drive 

from the scene, and he ultimately fled on foot [Id.].  Officers apprehended the driver and 

took him into custody [Id.].  Both of the men had black bags with them, which contained 

rubber gloves [Id. ¶ 30].  The defendant’s bag also contained a digital camera, food, a cell 

phone charger, a stocking cap, and a monocular scope [Id.].  He had $1,500 and the key 

to a Lincoln vehicle on his person [Id.].  A later search of the Pathfinder revealed a black 

stocking cap, gloves, and two cell phones with the batteries removed, wrapped in plastic 

[Id. ¶ 32].   

Once the defendant was in the custody of NCSHP, he constantly fidgeted in his 

handcuffs, and the officer consequently suspected that he was attempting to conceal an 

item in his hands [Id. ¶ 29].  Officers seized a balled up sheet of paper from the 

defendant’s hands, which had handwritten notes of addresses, later identified as bank 

locations, along with names of individuals later confirmed to be bank employees [Id.].  

The paper also included South Carolina license tag numbers and the following phrases: 

“FIND CEO,” “FIND CARS AT BRANCH,” and “CALL, WATCH IT CLOSE” [Id.].   

Case 3:15-cr-00177-TAV-CCS   Document 89   Filed 12/05/16   Page 7 of 45   PageID #: 1701

APPENDIX 016a



8 

The NCSHP Trooper involved in the previous chase identified the driver on 

November 25 as the same man who was operating the car on September 3 [Id. ¶ 31].  He 

did not, however, positively identify the defendant as the September 3 passenger [Id.].   

Agent Rory Poynter subsequently sought a search warrant for Southern Comfort 

based on the foregoing information [Id. ¶ 1].  In the supporting affidavit, he testified 

under oath that, “based on [his] training and experience, . . . criminals rely heavily on 

cellular phone communication and often times will communicate via text, have co-

conspirator contact information, take photographs and video, and utilize their cellular 

phones for mapping/GPS purposes” [Id. ¶ 33].  In conclusion, Agent Poynter stated that 

“perpetrators of crimes will utilize similar methods, or Modus Operandi, when 

committing crimes specifically when they have eluded capture from previous crimes” [Id. 

¶ 34].  Consequently, according to Agent Poynter, “[t]he events [that] occurred on 

November 25, 2015 demonstrate a willingness to flee from law enforcement to avoid 

prosecution and/or to destroy evidence and show Modus Operandi of similar 

characteristics to the aforementioned offenses” [Id.].  A United States Magistrate Judge in 

the Western District of North Carolina issued the search warrant for Southern Comfort, 

located at 380 Allison Drive, based on Agent Poynter’s affidavit [Doc. 33-1].   

In his Motion to Suppress Evidence Obtained at 380 Allison Drive [Doc. 33], the 

defendant argues that all evidence resulting from the search of Southern Comfort should 

be suppressed because the affidavit supporting the search warrant “lack[ed] any 
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constitutional nexus between the crimes alleged, the individuals involved, and the places 

and the things to be searched and seized” [Id. at 1].   

After hearing oral argument on the motion and reviewing exhibits submitted by 

the parties, Magistrate Judge Shirley determined that law enforcement searched 380 

Allison Drive pursuant to a valid search warrant [Doc. 65 p. 2].  He, therefore, 

recommended that the defendant’s motion to suppress be denied [Id.].  Magistrate Judge 

Shirley declined to address the issue of whether the good-faith exception to the 

exclusionary rule applied in this case, however, because he determined that the search 

warrant was supported by probable cause [Id. at 20–21].   

The defendant has objected to the R&R, arguing that Magistrate Judge Shirley 

based his analysis “on erroneous facts that are not supported by the record and are not 

contained within the four corners of the supporting affidavit” [Doc. 76 p. 2].  The 

defendant argues that a “careful reading of the affidavit reveals that there is not a nexus 

between the bank robberies alleged in the supporting affidavit and [the defendant]” [Id.].  

Furthermore, according to the defendant, “there is no nexus between the bank robberies 

alleged in the supporting affidavit and the rental cabin at 380 Allison Drive” [Id.].  The 

defendant also objects to the R&R’s finding that “the information provided in the 

supporting affidavit was not stale” [Id.].  Lastly, the defendant asserts that the R&R 

“incorrectly determined that the [d]efendant failed to make the ‘strong showing’ 

necessary to look beyond the four corners of the affidavit relative to a material 

misrepresentation or omission” [Id.].  The defendant does not object to the portion of the 
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R&R addressing “illegally gained information,” which is predominantly addressed in a 

prior R&R [Doc. 58].  The Court will not, therefore, address this section of the R&R. 

The government responded in opposition to the defendant’s objections and 

additionally requested that the Court, in the alternative, deny the defendant’s motion to 

suppress based on the good-faith exception to the exclusionary rule [Doc. 81].  The 

defendant replied to this response, focusing on his contention that the good-faith 

exception does not apply in this case [Doc. 86]. 

II. Standard of Review 
 

The Court reviews de novo those portions of the R&R to which the defendant has 

objected.  28 U.S.C. § 636(b)(1); Fed. R. Crim. P. 59(b).  Accordingly, the Court 

considers the R&R, the motions to suppress, the parties’ underlying and supporting 

briefs, the defendant’s objections, the government’s response to those objections, and the 

defendant’s reply, all in light of the applicable law. 

III. Analysis 

The defendant has objected to the majority of Magistrate Judge Shirley’s 

recommendations.  Specifically, the defendant first contends that the R&R relies on 

“erroneous facts” outside the four corners of the affidavit [Doc. 76 p. 2].  Thus, this 

Court’s foregoing recitation of the background in this case is strictly based on the 

affidavit, giving no deference to the R&R’s statement of facts.   

The defendant’s additional objections relate to three main arguments, similar to 

those made by the defendant in his original motion to suppress [Doc. 33]: (1) lack of 
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nexus, (2) staleness, and (3) material misrepresentation or omission by the affiant [Doc. 

76 p. 2].  Accordingly, the Court will proceed by evaluating each of these objections in 

turn, and it will then address whether the good-faith exception applies to the case at hand.   

A. Nexus 

The Fourth Amendment states that “no Warrants shall issue, but upon probable 

cause, supported by Oath or affirmation.” U.S. Const. amend. IV.  Thus, the Fourth 

Amendment requires that an affidavit submitted in support of a search warrant “indicate a 

nexus between the place to be searched and the evidence sought,” United States v. 

Hawkins, 278 F. App’x 629, 634 (6th Cir. 2008), and “[t]he belief that the items sought 

will be found at the location to be searched must be ‘supported by less than prima facie 

proof but more than mere suspicion.’”  United States v. Bethal, 245 F. App’x 460, 464 

(6th Cir. 2007) (quoting United States v. Johnson, 351 F.3d 254, 258 (6th Cir. 2003)); see 

United States v. Abboud, 438 F.3d 554, 571 (6th Cir. 2006) (“To demonstrate probable 

cause to justify issuance of a search warrant, an affidavit must contain facts that indicate 

a fair probability that evidence of a crime will be located on the premises of the proposed 

search.”).  In other words, the connection between the place to be searched and the items 

to be seized must not be “vague, generalized, or insubstantial.”  United States v. 

Carpenter, 360 F.3d 591, 595 (6th Cir. 2004).  Thus, “[t]he critical element in a 

reasonable search is not that the owner of the property is suspected of crime but that there 

is reasonable cause to believe that the specific things to be searched for and seized are 
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located on the property to which entry is sought.”  Zurcher v. Stanford Daily, 436 U.S. 

547, 556 (1978) (internal quotation omitted). 

A nexus between a suspect and the premises to be searched can be inferred in 

certain circumstances, depending upon “the type of crime being investigated, the nature 

of things to be seized, the extent of an opportunity to conceal the evidence elsewhere and 

the normal inferences that may be drawn as to likely hiding places.”  United States v. 

Savoca, 761 F.2d 292, 298 (6th Cir. 1985).  Where the nexus is inferred, the supporting 

affidavit must also contain an “additional fact that permitted the magistrate to draw the 

inference that evidence of wrongdoing would be found in the defendants’ homes,” such 

as “the independently corroborated fact that the defendants were known drug dealers at 

the time the police sought to search their homes.” United States v. McPhearson, 469 F.3d 

518, 524 (6th Cir. 2006).  An issuing court “may give considerable weight to the 

conclusion of experienced law enforcement officers regarding where evidence of a crime 

is likely to be found and is entitled to draw reasonable inferences about where evidence is 

likely to be kept, based on the nature of the evidence and the type of offense.”  United 

States v. Caicedo, 85 F.3d 1184, 1192 (6th Cir. 1996) (internal quotations and citations 

omitted).  But see United States v. Schultz, 14 F.3d 1093, 1098 (6th Cir. 1994) (“While an 

officer’s training and experience may be considered in determining probable cause, it 

cannot substitute for the lack of evidentiary nexus in this case, prior to the search, 

between the [place to be searched] and any criminal activity.” (internal quotations and 

citations omitted)). 
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In the R&R, Magistrate Judge Shirley determined that direct evidence links the 

bank robberies and kidnappings on April 28 and July 7 to the cabin at 380 Allison Drive 

[Doc. 65 p. 6].  Judge Shirley also found that the affidavit provided a nexus between the 

two men involved in the September 3 chase and Southern Comfort [Id. at 7].  Finally, 

Judge Shirley determined in the R&R that direct evidence provided a nexus between the 

defendant and the other white male, who were renting and residing at Southern Comfort, 

and the bank robberies and kidnappings set forth in Agent Poynter’s affidavit [Id. at 8].  

The R&R concluded that the issuing magistrate judge could have reasonably inferred that 

evidence from the robberies could be found at Southern Comfort [Id. at 10].  

Consequently, Judge Shirley found that the supporting affidavit provided a sufficient 

nexus between the items sought, evidence from and instrumentalities of the robbery and 

attempted robbery, and the place to be searched, Southern Comfort [Id. at 11]. 

1. Defendant’s Objections 

In objecting to this portion of the R&R, the defendant argues that the R&R “fails 

to connect [the robberies] to the rental cabin in any way” [Doc. 76 p. 17].  The defendant 

notes that he was not renting a cabin from PVR at the time of the April 28 incident, and 

he did not rent the Rebel Ridge Cabin until twenty days after the July 7 occurrence [Id.].  

Furthermore, the defendant asserts that the R&R “does not explain why law enforcement 

believed that the September 3 North Carolina chase was related to the April 28 and July 7 

Tennessee incidents” [Id.].  The defendant admits that “the court could reasonably tie the 

GPS device to the cabin at 124 Rebel Ridge Road,” but he argues that the court could not, 
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however, “reasonably leap from that inference to the inference that the two individuals on 

September 3 were the same two individuals renting [Southern Comfort]” [Id. at 18].   

In support of this argument, the defendant asserts that “[t]here is nothing 

inherently suspicious about a GPS device” and that the rental agency’s description of the 

renters as being white males in their 30s is too vague to establish probable cause that 

these men were the same individuals as those who fled on September 3 [Id. at 18–19].  

Additionally, the defendant states that the balled up piece of paper provided no 

connection to the Tennessee bank robberies, and the items found in the defendant’s bag 

were not used in the robberies [Id. at 22–23].  Consequently, according to the defendant, 

“[a]ny inference by the issuing judge that the items would be used in future crimes would 

contradict the facts presented in the affidavit that developed the alleged ‘common scheme 

or plan’” [Id. at 23]. 

2. Legal Standard 

In reviewing the validity of a search warrant, courts should not “engage in line-by-

line scrutiny of the warrant application’s affidavit.”  United States v. Williams, 544 F.3d 

683, 686 (6th Cir. 2008) (citing Bethal, 245 F. App’x at 465).  Instead, courts should 

“take a totality of the circumstances approach in their review of the affidavit.”  Id.  “[T]he 

duty of a reviewing court is simply to ensure that the magistrate had a substantial basis 

for concluding that probable cause existed.”  Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 238–39 

(1983).  A reviewing court should accord great deference to the magistrate’s 
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determination, for reasonable minds may differ as to the determination of probable cause.  

United States v. Leon, 468 U.S. 897, 914 (1984).   

The magistrate’s finding of probable cause should be overturned, however, if this 

decision was based on a knowingly or recklessly false affidavit.  Id.  Additionally, the 

reviewing court should find the warrant invalid if the magistrate acted as a “rubber 

stamp,” rather than a “neutral and detached” decision-maker.  Id.  Lastly, “courts will not 

defer to a warrant based on an affidavit that does not ‘provide the magistrate with a 

substantial basis for determining the existence of probable cause.’”  Id. at 915 (citing 

Gates, 462 U.S. at 239).  “If the magistrate’s probable cause determination was based on 

an improper analysis of the totality of the circumstances, or the warrant was improper in 

some other respect, a reviewing court may properly conclude the warrant was invalid” 

and, consequently, exclude fruits stemming from the search.  United States v. Carney, 

661 F. Supp. 2d 732, 739 (W.D. Ky. 2009).  

3. Application  

Here, the affidavit submitted by Agent Poynter demonstrated a sufficient nexus 

between Southern Comfort and the alleged crimes for the issuing magistrate to 

reasonably make a finding of probable cause.  This nexus becomes apparent when several 

verified facts and logical inferences are pieced together.  Specifically, the affidavit 

provides facts that establish a direct link between: (1) the September 3 incident and the 

November 25 incident, based on similarities between the two events’ Modus Operandi; 

(2) the November 25 incident and the attempted robbery and successful robbery 
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perpetrated in Tennessee, pursuant to the note found in the defendant’s possession during 

his arrest and items contained in the defendant’s bag; and (3) the September 3 incident 

and Southern Comfort, by means of the GPS device found in the abandoned vehicle and 

the FBI’s interview with the PVR employee.  Based on these links, the issuing magistrate 

judge could have reasonably inferred a nexus between the November 25 incident and 

Southern Comfort, and, consequently, between the bank robberies and Southern Comfort.  

Facts connecting the property and the offenses were not too vague, generalized, or 

insubstantial to establish probable cause.  Carpenter, 360 F.3d at 595. 

The affiant provided facts that established “more than [a] mere suspicion” that 

items connected to the bank robberies and kidnappings would be found at Southern 

Comfort.  Bethal, 245 F. App’x at 464.  Although the magistrate’s finding of a nexus 

between the items sought and Southern Comfort required him to make logical inferences, 

this does not make the link more “vague” or “generalized.”  Carpenter, 360 F.3d at 595.  

A complex nexus does not automatically amount to a vague or generalized connection.  

Furthermore, relevant factors, as set forth in Savoca, allowed the issuing magistrate in 

this case to infer a nexus between the items sought and the place to be searched, and the 

Court will evaluate each of these factors in turn.  See Savoca, 761 F.2d at 298 (asserting 

that a nexus between a suspect and the premises to be searched can at times be inferred, 

depending upon “the type of crime being investigated, the nature of things to be seized, 

the extent of an opportunity to conceal the evidence elsewhere and the normal inferences 

that may be drawn as to likely hiding places”).   
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First, as to the type of crime being investigated, the offenses were ongoing 

conspiracies, which took extensive planning and coordination.  “[W]ith continuing 

criminal operations, any issue of staleness, or the lack of a direct known link between the 

criminal activity and residence, becomes minimal.”  United States v. Newton, 389 F.3d 

631, 635–36 (6th Cir. 2004) (citing United States v. Greene, 250 F.3d 471, 481 (6th Cir. 

2001)), vacated, 546 U.S. 803 (2005).  Here, FBI agents and local law enforcement 

conducted extensive investigation into the bank robberies and kidnappings, as well as the 

September 3 and November 25 incidents, and determined that these events were 

connected.  They interviewed a PVR employee who described the men renting Southern 

Comfort in a manner consistent with the perpetrators of the bank robberies, as well as the 

September 3 and November 25 events.  The attempted robbery and successful robbery 

involved similar Modus Operandi, including kidnapping bank executives’ families.  

Officers conducted surveillance at the target location, where they witnessed men 

matching descriptions from each of the incidents coming and going from the cabin in 

stolen vehicles with stolen tags, which was consistent with the September 3 and 

November 25 chases.   

Second, with regard to the nature of things to be seized, the items sought were 

likely used repeatedly during commission of the robberies, like the surveillance items 

found on the defendant and the driver on November 25.  The suspects also had ample 

opportunity to conceal instrumentalities and evidence of the crimes committed, due to 

their prior evasion of law enforcement [Doc. 76-1 ¶ 34].  Finally, a reasonable person 
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could conclude that a cabin rented by the suspects, from whence they were witnessed 

coming and going, could have served as a likely hiding place for items used during the 

robberies and fruits obtained therefrom.  Consequently, under Sixth Circuit precedent, the 

Court could infer a nexus between Southern Comfort and the items sought, based on a 

totality of the circumstances.  See Savoca, 761 F.2d at 298.  

Furthermore, the supporting affidavit contains multiple “additional facts,” or “plus 

factors,” as referred to by the defendant, which permitted the magistrate to draw the 

inference that evidence of wrongdoing would be found at Southern Comfort.  See 

McPhearson, 469 F.3d at 524 (determining that, in cases of inferred nexuses, the affidavit 

must provide an “additional fact that permitted the magistrate to draw the inference that 

evidence of wrongdoing would be found in the defendants’ homes”).  Law enforcement 

independently corroborated that the driver who fled on September 3 was the same driver 

apprehended by the NCSHP on November 25, and the two events were strikingly similar 

overall.  Police corroborated that the items found on the defendant, particularly the note 

found in his possession, linked him to the bank robberies and kidnappings.  FBI agents 

studied data obtained from the GPS in depth and interviewed the PVR employee who 

rented the suspects cabins over an extended period of time.  They interviewed victims of 

the kidnappings, one of whom from July 7 testified that that she heard the perpetrators 

use a GPS device.  NCSHP officers conducted surveillance for multiple days on the last 

cabin rented by the suspects, and they witnessed white males—fitting descriptions from 
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the September 3 incident, the November 25 incident, and the bank robberies—coming 

and going from Southern Comfort in stolen vehicles with stolen tags.   

In combination, the above facts provide sufficient “additional facts” for the issuing 

magistrate judge to have found probable cause to issue a warrant.  See United States v. 

Cobb, 397 F. App’x 128, 133 (6th Cir. 2010) (affirming the inference of a nexus between 

a robber’s residence and instrumentalities of the robberies because the affidavit “set forth 

sufficient facts to permit the issuing judge to infer a link between the evidence sought and 

[the defendant’s] residence”). 

In his objection to this portion of the R&R, the defendant compares his case to 

United States v. Savoca, in which the Sixth Circuit vacated its prior ruling—concluding 

that the search warrant lacked probable cause—based on the good-faith exception set 

forth in Leon [Doc. 76 p. 13].  The court did not, however, vacate the rationale on which 

it based its finding that the search warrant was invalid.  In making this determination of 

invalidity, the court relied upon two specific factors: (1) “the affidavit revealed that the 

crimes occurred ‘over 2,000 miles from the motel room,’” and (2) “‘[m]ore importantly, 

the affidavit did not specify the amount of time that had passed’ since the crimes.”  

Savoca, 761 F.2d at 294–95.   

Here, in contrast, the crimes occurred within just over 100 miles from Southern 

Comfort, as opposed to 2,000 miles from the place to be searched in Savoca.  761 F.2d at 

294–95.  Furthermore, the affidavit in this case presented the magistrate with specific 

dates for the crimes committed, demonstrating that the crimes occurred approximately 
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seven months and five months, respectively, prior to the search of Southern Comfort.  

Thus, this case is differentiable from Savoca. 

The defendant also compares his case to United States v. Hatcher, 473 F.2d 321 

(6th Cir. 1973) [Doc. 76 pp. 13–14].  In Hatcher, the Sixth Circuit found that the search 

warrant was not based on probable cause and affirmed that “[t]he mere fact that two 

persons known to have been engaged in trafficking in narcotics were observed on the 

same premises cannot justify a search of the premises without something more.”  Id. at 

323.  The court noted, however, that the sum of money and gun in the defendant’s 

custody could have qualified as the requisite “something more,” had it been included in 

the underlying affidavit.  Id. at 323–24.   

Here, surveillance over the course of several days revealed that the suspects were 

utilizing Southern Comfort as a residence and base location.  The underlying affidavit 

provided numerous factors—as discussed herein—that, in combination with the affiant’s 

experience, establish probable cause to believe that instrumentalities or fruits of the 

robberies would be found at Southern Comfort.  Additionally, in this case, the crimes at 

issue were part of an ongoing criminal conspiracy.  Thus, the affidavit in question 

provides “something more,” unlike the affidavit in Hatcher.  

Additionally, although the defendant likens his case to United States v. 

Washington, 266 F. Supp. 2d 781 (S.D. Ohio 2003), in which the court declined to find a 

nexus between the place to be searched and the suspects, the court in Washington noted 

that, “[h]ad detectives continued surveillance of [the property] and observed the suspect 
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routinely departing the house en route to sell drugs, they may have established probable 

cause for a search warrant.”  Id. at 785.  Here, the defendant was witnessed coming and 

going from Southern Comfort on multiple occasions, all in stolen vehicles with stolen 

plates.  Furthermore, the Sixth Circuit reversed the lower court in Washington on appeal 

because it determined that the good-faith exception applied, which the Court will address 

in a later section of this opinion.  United States v. Washington, 380 F.3d 236, 238 (6th 

Cir. 2004). 

Finally, the defendant has not demonstrated that the magistrate judge’s finding 

was based on a knowingly or recklessly false affidavit or that the magistrate judge acted 

merely as a rubber stamp, and—as previously determined—the defendant has failed to 

prove that the affidavit did not provide a “substantial basis” for a finding of probable 

cause or that the magistrate judge’s determination was based on an improper analysis.  

Leon, 468 U.S. at 914. 

Thus, based on the totality of the circumstances, giving appropriate weight to the 

affiant–officer’s training and experience and according great deference to the issuing 

magistrate’s determination, while still requiring an adequate nexus, this Court finds that 

the affidavit provided a sufficient link between the items sought and the place to be 

searched to make the magistrate’s finding of probable cause reasonable.  The search 

warrant was, therefore, valid, and the Court overrules the defendant’s objection on this 

ground. 
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B. Staleness 

The defendant also objects to the R&R’s finding that the information presented in 

the underlying affidavit was not stale [Doc. 76 pp. 24–27].  “[I]n seeking to establish 

probable cause to obtain a search warrant, the affidavit may not employ ‘stale’ 

information, and whether information is stale depends on the ‘inherent nature of the 

crime.’”  United States v. Brooks, 594 F.3d 488, 493 (6th Cir. 2010) (quoting Spikes, 158 

F.3d at 923).  “[T]he critical question is whether the information contained in the 

affidavit, when presented to the . . . judge, established that there was a fair probability 

that [evidence] would still be found at [the location of the search].”  Abboud, 438 F.3d at 

572.  A staleness test is not designed to “create an arbitrary time limitation within which 

discovered facts must be presented to a magistrate.” Spikes, 158 F.3d at 923.  When the 

challenger asserts that probable cause that once existed had grown stale before the 

warrant was issued, a court must look to facts and circumstances of each case.  Id. 

As appropriately relied upon by both parties, the following four-pronged Spikes 

test is utilized by courts within the Sixth Circuit when evaluating a claim of staleness: (1) 

“the character of the crime (chance encounter in the night or regenerating conspiracy?),” 

(2) “the criminal (nomadic or entrenched?),” (3) “the thing to be seized (perishable and 

easily transferable or of enduring utility to its holder?),” and (4) “the place to be searched 

(mere criminal forum of convenience or secure operational base?).”  Id. 

In the R&R, Magistrate Judge Shirley determined that the affidavit provided 

evidence of an “ongoing crime spree,” and consequently, that the information in the 
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affidavit was not stale [Doc. 65 p. 12].  Specifically, Judge Shirley found that three of the 

four Spikes factors support this conclusion: (1) “the character of the crimes under 

investigation reveal them to require a high degree of planning and coordination”; (2) 

“[t]he types of items to be seized—firearms and ammunition, masks, tools, computers, 

tablets, and other electronic devices—were durable goods of enduring value”; and (3) 

“the Allison Drive cabin was the [d]efendant’s base of operations, rather than a venue 

with which he had only passing ties” [Id.].  Judge Shirley admits, however, that the final 

Spikes factor does not apply because the defendant was “arguably more nomadic, than 

ensconced, as [he] had moved to a different rental cabin during the time frame covered by 

the affidavit” [Id.]. 

Objecting to this portion of the R&R, the defendant states that “[t]he information 

contained in the supporting affidavit is so far removed from the time of any alleged 

criminal activity that any probable cause for the Allison Drive cabin would be stale” 

[Doc. 76 p. 24].  Specifically, the defendant argues that the five months and seven 

months, respectively, between the robberies and the search, as well as the 100 miles 

separating the incidents and the cabin, make it “beyond reason” to infer that an ongoing 

conspiracy was occurring [Id.].  The defendant also asserts that “there was no information 

or indication that there was anything that would be of endearing value to the owner” [Id. 

at 26].  Thus, according to the defendant, the suspects and their criminal enterprise were 

entirely nomadic [Id.].  Finally, the defendant argues that the R&R’s finding that 

Southern Comfort was the “base of operations” is “completely unsupported by the facts 
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set forth in the affidavit” and that the defendant’s connection to the cabin was “passing at 

best” [Id.].  In sum, the defendant contends that the R&R “improperly analyzed the 

affidavit and the Spikes factors to erroneously conclude that the information was not 

stale” [Id. at 27].   

The government has not objected to Judge Shirley’s finding that the second Spikes 

factor—whether the criminal was nomadic or entrenched—goes toward a finding of 

staleness in this case.  Thus, the Court will focus on the remaining three Spikes factors, 

which Judge Shirley determined point towards a finding of lack of staleness: (1) character 

of the crime, (2) thing to be seized, and (3) place to be searched.  Each of these factors 

will be addressed in turn. 

1. Character of the Crime 

First, the alleged crimes in this case could not reasonably be characterized as 

“chance encounter[s] in the night.”  Spikes, 158 F.3d at 923.  Rather, the bank robberies 

and kidnappings—as described in the affidavit—resemble a methodically planned, 

regenerating conspiracy.   

“[E]vidence of ongoing criminal activity will generally defeat a claim of 

staleness.”  Greene, 250 F.3d at 48; see Abboud, 438 F.3d at 573 (finding that ongoing 

criminal activity at a given time may be sufficient to defeat a claim of staleness); Newton, 

389 F.3d at 635–36 (“[W]ith continuing criminal operations, any issue of staleness, or the 

lack of a direct known link between the criminal activity and residence, becomes 

minimal.”).  Furthermore, courts permit greater lapses of time between the information 
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relied upon and the request for a search warrant when the evidence sought concerns a 

long-term criminal operation.  United States v. Thomas, 605 F.3d 300, 309–10 (6th Cir. 

2010); see Spikes, 158 F.3d at 923 (stating that “the length of time between the events 

listed in the affidavit and the application of the warrant, while clearly salient, is not 

controlling”).  The indicia of criminal activity may remain for some time after the 

accused’s last-reported criminal activity.  United States v. Canan, 48 F.3d 954, 959 (6th 

Cir. 1995). 

Here, the affidavit establishes that the criminal activity at issue was a long-term, 

ongoing operation.  The attempted robbery of the Credit Union on April 28, 2015 highly 

resembled the robbery of SmartBank on July 7, 2015—both targeted bank executives and 

their families; both involved taking the executive’s wife and child hostage, and 

blindfolding them, while ordering the executive to take money from the bank; both sets 

of perpetrators instructed the executive to keep his phone in his front shirt pocket while 

on a call with his wife’s phone, which was controlled by the suspects, in order to monitor 

the executive’s activity; and both sets of robbers utilized the victim’s car to transport the 

hostage family [Doc. 76-1 pp. 2–6].  The similarities between these two events 

demonstrate that the events were very likely connected and that the criminal activity at 

issue was consequently an ongoing operation.   

Additionally, as previously established, the affidavit presents facts that link the 

robberies to the chases on September 3 and November 25, which are in turn linked to 

Southern Comfort.  The PVR employee stated that the white males renting cabins in the 
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Maggie Valley area at one point drove a Lexus, like the vehicle stolen from the family on 

April 28, 2015.  Furthermore, NCSHP officers witnessed the suspects come and go from 

the cabin in stolen vehicles with stolen plates, adding to the appearance of an ongoing 

criminal conspiracy. 

Therefore, although approximately five months and seven months had elapsed 

between the two incidents and the filing of the search warrant affidavit, the potential 

issue of staleness is minimal.  See Newton, 389 F.3d at 635–36.  It is appropriate for this 

Court to allow this lapse of time between the events at issue and the request for a search 

warrant because the affidavit establishes the ongoing nature of the crimes.  See 

Thomas, 605 F.3d at 309–10; Canan, 48 F.3d at 959.  Despite the defendant’s contention 

that “[i]t is beyond reason to infer that there was an ongoing conspiracy based on the time 

and distance involved,” the facts included in the affidavit establish otherwise [Doc. 76 p. 

24].  Consequently, the Court finds that first Spikes factor—the character of the crime—

weighs against a pronouncement of staleness. 

2. Thing To Be Seized 

The Court also finds that the things sought to be seized were of continuing worth 

to the defendant.  Based on facts contained in the affidavit, items of enduring value—

such as firearms, masks, and clothing—would be found at the defendant’s current base of 

operations, Southern Comfort.  These types of items are not perishable, but rather, would 

be of continuing utility to their owner.   
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“[A]n issuing judge may infer that a criminal suspect keeps the ‘instrumentalities 

and fruits’ of his crime in his residence.”  Williams, 544 F.3d at 688 (affirming the 

inference of a nexus between the defendant’s home and the firearms he used in 

furtherance of drug trafficking because he could be expected to keep the instrumentalities 

of his crimes at his home, “[m]uch like a bank robber would keep the proceeds and 

instrumentalities of his robbery in his home”).  Instrumentalities of ongoing robberies 

would not likely be disposed of by the perpetrators, particularly if similar items were 

used in each event.  See Cobb, 397 F. App’x at 133 (affirming the inference that clothing 

worn during bank robberies and proceeds therefrom would still be at the residence six 

weeks after the last robbery and finding that the defendant, who took $100,000 from a 

bank robbery, would still have a significant portion of the funds in his control); United 

States v. Pritchett, 40 F. App’x 901, 906 (6th Cir. 2002) (finding that information from 

four months earlier was not stale because  “[f]irearms are durable goods and might well 

be expected to remain in a criminal’s possession for a long period of time”).   

Here, the affidavit described the following items to be seized: (1) firearms and 

ammunition, (2) clothing, masks, and other items potentially worn during the robberies, 

(3) cell phones, cameras, GPS devices, computers, tablets, and other electronic devices, 

(4) currency or other banking materials, (5) receipts, ledgers, maps, or other materials 

that could reveal details about the crimes committed, (6) stolen vehicles or tags, (7) rental 

agreements, documents, bills, or identification documents, (8) identification of victims, 

(9) crowbar and other burglary tools, (10) handcuffs, belly bands, and other restraining 
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devices, (11) gasoline or other fuel sources, (12) trace/forensic evidence, and (13) bags or 

other items that could be used to carry large amounts of money [Doc. 33-1 pp. 4–5].   

Most of these types of items are not disposable—rather, they would be used 

repeatedly by robbers during the commission of the ongoing crimes.  Although the exact 

same items were not used in the April 28 and July 7 incidents, as noted by the defendant 

[Doc. 76 p. 23], similar items were used, and overall parallels between the two events 

could have reasonably led the magistrate to conclude that the perpetrators would keep the 

instruments.  Consequently, it is likely that these items would still be found at the cabin, 

even though the affidavit was drafted five and seven months, respectively, after the 

robberies occurred.  See Williams, 544 F.3d at 688; Cobb, 397 F. App’x at 133.   

The Court finds that the issuing judge could reasonably infer that the defendant 

would keep the instrumentalities and fruits of his crime—for instance, the clothes he 

wore before and during the robbery and the currency he took—for an extended period of 

time. See Pritchett, 40 F. App’x at 906.  Thus, this Spikes factor also weighs against a 

finding of staleness.   

3. Place To Be Searched 

Finally, the Court finds that the affidavit demonstrates that the place to be 

searched—Southern Comfort—served as an operational base for the defendant and his 

cohort.  It appears, based on the facts set forth in the affidavit, that Southern Comfort was 

one of many PVR cabins used by the pair as a type of criminal headquarters.  Although 

Case 3:15-cr-00177-TAV-CCS   Document 89   Filed 12/05/16   Page 28 of 45   PageID #: 1722

APPENDIX 037a



29 

the defendant moved between cabins in the Maggie Valley area, there are no facts 

contained within the affidavit that indicate these were fleeting forums of convenience. 

The defendant notes that Magistrate Judge Shirley mistakenly stated that the 

defendant was at Southern Comfort for nineteen days, rather than ten days, and that the 

defendant was at the 124 Rebel Ridge Road cabin for five months, rather than three-and-

a-half months [Doc. 76 p. 25].  While these objections are well-taken, the Court does not 

agree that the slight discrepancies in time periods dictate a different result.  The 

defendant had begun renting properties from PVR in Maggie Valley in June 2015.  

Although he had only been renting Southern Comfort for ten days prior to issuance of the 

warrant, the defendant had been renting PVR cabins for over five months.  Simply 

because the defendant had recently switched to another cabin—in the same geographic 

region, managed by the same company—does not transform this cabin into a “mere 

criminal forum of convenience.”  Spikes, 158 F.3d at 923.  Indeed, Southern Comfort 

stood as the latest secure operational base in a string of PVR cabin bases.  Consequently, 

the Court finds that the last Spikes factor also weighs against finding that information in 

the affidavit was stale.   

In sum, the Court agrees with Magistrate Judge Shirley’s conclusion that three of 

the four Spikes factors—the character of the crimes, the things to be seized, and the place 

to be searched—indicate a lack of staleness in this case.  Thus, the Court determines that 

the information contained in the supporting affidavit is not “so far removed from the time 

of any alleged criminal activity that any probable cause for the Allison Drive cabin would 
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be stale” and, therefore, overrules the defendant’s objection on this ground [Doc. 76 p. 

24]. 

C. Omission or Misrepresentation 

Finally, the defendant objects to Magistrate Judge Shirley’s determination that the 

affidavit did not contain a material misrepresentation with regard to the race of one of the 

perpetrators of the April 28 kidnapping and attempted robbery [Doc. 76 pp. 27–30].  

Judge Shirley determined that the defendant failed to make the prima facie showing 

required under Franks v. Delaware, 438 U.S. 154, 155, 164 (1978) in order for the 

defendant to attack the veracity of factual statements in the affidavit [Doc. 65 pp. 14–

15].5  The defendant did not, according to Judge Shirley, “even argue that Agent Poynter 

intentionally or recklessly stated that both men who engaged in the April 28 kidnapping 

and attempted robbery were white” [Id. at 19].  Judge Shirley did not permit an inference 

of intentional or reckless omission based on the supposed “central importance to the 

nexus determination” of the perpetrators’ race [Id.].  Thus, in sum, the R&R concluded 

that the defendant did not make the strong showing necessary to permit the Court to look 

beyond the four corners of the affidavit [Id. at 20]. 

Objecting to this portion of the R&R, the defendant suggests that he has, in fact, 

requested a Franks hearing, although he neither directly requested a hearing in his 

previous filings, nor did he request a Franks hearing on June 2, 2016, before Judge 

                                              
5 Judge Shirley noted, however, that as of October 7, 2016, the defendant had not 

explicitly requested a Franks hearing [Doc. 65 p. 16 n.3]. 
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Shirley [Doc. 76 p. 27 n.3].  Regardless of whether the defendant has requested a hearing, 

however, this Court finds that the defendant has failed to meet the two-prong test set forth 

in Franks. 

Under the Franks test, the defendant must (1) make a substantial preliminary 

showing that specified portions of the affiant’s statements are deliberately or recklessly 

false, and (2) demonstrate that the challenged statements are necessary to a finding of 

probable cause.  Franks, 438 U.S. at 171; United States v. Graham, 275 F.3d 490, 505 

(6th Cir. 2001).  In order to mandate a hearing on this issue, “the challenger’s attack must 

be more than conclusory.”  Id.; United States v. Bennett, 905 F.3d 931, 934 (6th Cir. 

1990).  “There must be allegations of deliberate falsehood or of reckless disregard for the 

truth, and those allegations must be accompanied by an offer of proof. . . . Allegations of 

negligence or innocent mistake are insufficient.”  Franks, 438 U.S. at 171.   

While an alleged omission can warrant examination under Franks, “an affidavit 

which omits potentially exculpatory information is less likely to present a question of 

impermissible official conduct than one which affirmatively includes false information.” 

United States v. Atkin, 107 F.3d 1213, 1217 (6th Cir. 1997).  The Sixth Circuit has noted 

that Franks hearings are only justified in cases of omissions in “rare instances.”  Mays v. 

City of Dayton, 134 F.3d 809, 815 (6th Cir. 1998), cert. denied, 524 U.S. 942 (1998).  

“This is so because an allegation of omission potentially opens officers to endless 

conjecture about investigative leads, fragments of information, or other matter that might, 
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if included, have redounded to defendant’s benefit.”  Atkin, 107 F.3d at 1217 (internal 

quotation omitted).  

Similar to the requisite showing in cases of false statements, to merit a Franks 

hearing with regard to alleged omissions, “the defendant must make a preliminary 

showing that the affiant engaged in deliberate or reckless disregard of the truth in 

omitting the information from the affidavit.”  Graham, 275 F.3d at 506.  Then the court 

must consider the affidavit in addition to the omitted portions and determine whether 

probable cause still exists.  Id. 

Here, the defendant argues that the affiant’s statement that the two suspects from 

April 28 were white males “is inaccurate and is either a deliberate falsehood or, more 

likely, made with reckless disregard for the truth” [Doc. 76 p. 28].  The defendant fails, 

however, to introduce any proof that the statement was made either deliberately or with 

reckless disregard for the truth, other than Allison Ziegler’s statement that one of the two 

perpetrators on April 28 was a black male [Doc. 33-2].  The defendant does not mention 

that Ms. Ziegler’s husband said that one of the perpetrators was Hispanic, and her son 

stated that both men were white [Doc. 46 p. 30]. 

Thus, an “accurate” description of the April 28 perpetrators’ characteristics 

depends on whose perspective the affiant replied upon.  Demonstrating that the affiant 

chose to give greater weight to the son’s statement than the mother’s—or the father’s—

does not necessarily prove that the affiant deliberately, or even recklessly, submitted a 

false statement to the magistrate.  See United States v. Bergren, No. C 12–00119 SI, 2014 
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WL 1217981, at *4 (N.D. Cal. Mar. 21, 2014) (finding that, even if the defendant 

demonstrated that certain witness statements were inconsistent with the confidential 

informant’s statements included in the affidavit, that would not sustain the defendant’s 

burden under Franks because “the affiant could well have concluded that the CI was 

trustworthy, and that the witness descriptions of the individuals the CI described as 

accompanying the defendant were irrelevant to the probable cause determination”).  

Thus, failure to include witnesses’ contrasting descriptions does not automatically 

amount to a “reckless disregard for the truth,” as claimed by the defendant [Doc. 76 p. 

29], and it more likely qualifies as an omission of conflicting testimony, which renders 

the defendant’s argument even less likely to warrant a hearing on the matter.  See Atkin, 

107 F.3d at 1217; Mays, 134 F.3d at 815.   

Regardless of whether the affidavit’s description of the April 28 perpetrators is 

analyzed as a false statement or an omission, however, the Court finds that a “correction” 

of the description—or inclusion of omitted testimony—does not defeat the affidavit’s 

showing of probable cause.  Describing one of the men from the April 28 incident as 

white, black, or Hispanic does not obliterate the nexus previously found by the Court.  

The defendant claims that “[h]ad the affidavit accurately reflected the fact that a white 

male suspect and a black male suspect were involved in the April 28 incident, the 

assertion that the individuals involved in the September 3 incident were connected to the 

East Tennessee robberies would have been gutted” [Id.].  As discussed herein, however, 
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the affidavit submitted additional facts linking the September 3 incident to the November 

25 incident, which was in turn linked to the bank robberies.   

The defendant also asserts that, “had that information been included in the 

affidavit, it would have completely undermined the assertion that the individuals at the 

Allison Drive cabin were connected to the East Tennessee robberies” [Id.].  Again, this 

argument ignores other links made between each of the events, irrelevant of the suspects’ 

races.  Furthermore, inclusion of Allison Ziegler’s testimony in the affidavit would not 

have definitively established that one of the perpetrators was a black male.  This 

reasoning fails to consider her son’s testimony that the men were both white, as well as 

her husband’s statement that one of the men was Hispanic.  An arguably “accurate” 

description of the male perpetrators on April 28 would have read, “a masked white male 

and a masked male of an undetermined race,” or a similar phrasing.  This description, 

which takes into account the three conflicting witness statements, does not “completely 

undermine” the connection between the individuals at Southern Comfort and the 

perpetrators of the robberies [Id.].   

In sum, despite the defendant’s contention to the contrary, the description of the 

suspects in the April 28 incident is not “the basis for which all other assertions in the 

affidavit are connected” [Id.].  Inclusion of Allison Ziegler’s description of the 

perpetrators does not discredit a finding of probable cause, as the affidavit provides 

various other links between the place to be searched and the items to be seized.  
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The Court consequently concludes that the defendant has failed to make a 

sufficient showing under the Franks test to warrant a hearing on the alleged false 

statement or omission by the affiant, and the Court will also overrule his objection on this 

ground. 

D. Good-Faith Exception 

In United States v. Leon, 468 U.S. 897 (1984), the Supreme Court established the 

good-faith exception to the exclusionary rule.  Under this exception, courts should 

decline to exclude evidence obtained by a police officer who conducted a search in 

reasonable reliance on a search warrant issued by a neutral, detached magistrate, which 

was later determined to be unsupported by probable cause.  See id. at 920–22 (“In most 

such cases, there is no police illegality and thus nothing to deter.  It is the magistrate’s 

responsibility to determine whether the officer’s allegations establish probable cause and, 

if so, to issue a warrant comporting in form with the requirements of the Fourth 

Amendment.”).  Rather than resolving whether a Fourth Amendment violation has 

occurred, the exception involves a determination that the purpose of the exclusionary 

rule—deterrence of police misconduct—would not be served under the circumstances.  

See id. at 909 (“[If] . . . the exclusionary rule does not result in appreciable deterrence, 

then, clearly, its use in the instant situation is unwarranted.”). 

The Supreme Court in Leon noted, however, four situations in which application 

of the exception would be inappropriate: (1) “if the magistrate or judge in issuing a 

warrant was misled by information in an affidavit that the affiant knew was false or 

Case 3:15-cr-00177-TAV-CCS   Document 89   Filed 12/05/16   Page 35 of 45   PageID #: 1729

APPENDIX 044a



36 

would have known was false except for his reckless disregard of the truth”; (2) if the 

“issuing magistrate wholly abandoned his judicial role”; (3) if the affidavit is “so lacking 

in indicia of probable cause as to render official belief in its existence entirely 

unreasonable”; and (4) if the warrant was “so facially deficient—i.e., in failing to 

particularize the place to be searched or the things to be seized—that the executing 

officers cannot reasonably presume it to be valid.”  Id. at 923. 

In the R&R, Magistrate Judge Shirley declined to address whether the good-faith 

exception to the exclusionary rule applies in this case because he determined that 

probable cause existed to issue the search warrant [Doc. 65 p. 21].  Thus, Judge Shirley 

found no reason to reach the issue of whether the officers executed the search warrant in 

good faith [Id.].   

The government, however, in its response to the defendant’s objections [Doc. 81], 

argues that this Court “can and should reach the good faith issue” and that this Court 

should alternatively hold that the good-faith exception applies in this case [Id. at 8].  The 

defendant responded to this argument in its reply [Doc. 86], asserting that this Court 

should not apply the good-faith exception “because, under the circumstances, a 

reasonably well-trained officer would know that the affidavit was insufficient to establish 

probable cause” [Id. at 1].  Specifically, the defendant argues that “the affiant misled the 

magistrate to create the illusion of probable cause,” and “the affidavit was so lacking in 

the indicia of probable cause that reliance on it was entirely unreasonable” [Id.].  The 

Court will, therefore, now address whether the good-faith exception to the exclusionary 
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rule applies in the current case, although Magistrate Judge Shirley declined to reach this 

issue in the R&R. 

 The Court concludes that, even if the magistrate judge erred in finding probable 

cause to issue the search warrant, which the Court has determined that he did not, 

evidence stemming from the search of Southern Comfort would still be admissible based 

on the good-faith exception.  Officers in this case conducted a search in reasonable 

reliance on a warrant issued by a neutral, detached magistrate.  In spite of the defendant’s 

argument to the contrary, there was no “police illegality and thus nothing to deter” in this 

case.  Id. at 920–21.  Consequently, the primary purpose of the exclusionary rule would 

not be served by exclusion of evidence resulting from the search of Southern Comfort.  

Id. at 918–19.  Furthermore, none of the exceptions set forth in Leon apply in this case.  

See 468 U.S. at 923. 

 First, as the Court previously determined, the issuing magistrate judge was not 

misled by false information either intentionally or recklessly included by Agent Poynter 

in the warrant affidavit.  One of the three victims from the April 28 attempted robbery 

stated that the perpetrators were both white males, and Agent Poynter included this 

description in the affidavit [Doc. 76-1 p. 2].  The defendant argues that one of the 

suspects was a black male, strictly basing this assumption on another victim’s first-hand 

account [Doc. 33-2].  The defendant presented no evidence that the affiant intentionally 

or recklessly misstated the suspect’s description or omitted conflicting descriptions, other 

than merely pointing to the testimony of one witness whose inconsistent account Agent 
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Poynter failed to include in the affidavit [Doc. 86 pp. 3–4].  The existence of an 

inconsistent witness account does not necessarily mean that the description included in 

the affidavit was intentionally or recklessly false.  Although the defendant argues that 

Agent Poynter swore to the facts of the affidavit “knowing that the description of ‘two 

white males’ was contrary to the description given by a victim of the April 28 incident” 

[Id. at 4–5], the defendant fails to acknowledge that Agent Poynter’s description of the 

perpetrators was consistent with another victim’s account.  Thus, this Court finds that the 

magistrate was not misled by false statements either intentionally or recklessly included 

in the underlying affidavit.   

 Second, the defendant has presented no evidence that the issuing magistrate judge 

in this case “wholly abandoned his judicial role,” and nothing in the record hints 

otherwise.  Leon, 468 U.S. at 923.  Thus, the second exception to Leon is inapplicable 

here. 

 Third, the affidavit in this case is not “so lacking in indicia of probable cause as to 

render official belief in its existence entirely unreasonable.”  Id.  As previously 

determined by the Court, the affidavit provided a sufficient nexus between the items 

sought and the place to be searched to establish probable cause.  Furthermore, the Court 

found that information included in the affidavit was not stale.  Even if the warrant was 

declared invalid, however, the underlying affidavit was not so lacking in probable cause 

that reliance upon the warrant by officers would have unreasonable.   
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In order for this third exception to Leon to apply, the affidavit must have been “so 

vague as to be conclusory or meaningless.”  Carpenter, 360 F.3d at 596 (6th Cir. 2004).  

This is an even lower standard than the “substantial basis” required for a finding of 

probable cause.  See id. at 595 (“If a lack of a substantial basis also prevented application 

of the Leon objective good faith exception, the exception would be devoid of substance.” 

(quoting United States v. Bynum, 293 F.3d 192, 195 (4th Cir. 2002))); see also 

Washington, 380 F.3d at 241 (“Carpenter makes it clear that the ‘so lacking in indicia’ 

test is less demanding than the ‘substantial basis’ test.  Thus, it is entirely possible that an 

affidavit could be insufficient for probable cause but sufficient for ‘good-faith’ 

reliance.”). 

In sum, application of the good-faith exception requires only a “minimally 

sufficient nexus,” which, for all of the reasons discussed herein, the affidavit in this case 

provides.  Carpenter, 360 F.3d at 596; see United States v. Van Shutters, 163 F.3d 331, 

336 (6th Cir. 1998) (upholding a search under Leon where the affidavit connected the 

place to be searched to the illegal activity only by stating that the residence was 

“available” to the defendant); Schultz, 14 F.3d at 1098 (declining to exclude evidence 

based on the good-faith exception when the affidavit linked the place to be searched to 

the items sought only by stating that the officer’s training and experience led him to 

believe that evidence would be located there). 

The defendant argues that, while “this is not a typical ‘bare bones’ affidavit, it is 

similar in that it contains conclusory statements to connect the Tennessee bank robberies 
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to the North Carolina cabin and lacked any particularized incriminating facts” [Doc. 86 p. 

5].  The defendant further states that, “[w]hile the criminal activity is described in great 

detail, it is never connected to Mr. Benanti or the cabin at 380 Allison Drive.  While the 

Affidavit explains that Haywood County Sheriff’s Office conducted some surveillance on 

the cabin, the surveillance never returns any evidence relating to bank robberies” [Id.].  

As addressed herein in detail, however, the affidavit provides links between the 

September 3 event and the November 25 event, between the September 3 event and 

Southern Comfort, between the November 25 event and the robberies, and, consequently, 

between the robberies and Southern Comfort.  Even if these links were not strong enough 

to support a finding of probable cause, which the Court has concluded that they are, they 

would at minimum be sufficient for a reasonable officer to have relied upon the search 

warrant in good faith. 

Last, the final exception to Leon does not apply here because the warrant was not 

“so facially deficient” that the executing officers could not have reasonably assumed its 

validity.  Leon, 468 U.S. at 923.  The warrant clearly described the place to be searched 

and listed the items to be seized in great detail [Doc. 33-1 pp. 3–5].  Thus, nothing on the 

face of the warrant made it so deficient that it was unreasonable for the officers to rely 

upon it in good faith.  Therefore, none of the four exceptions to Leon apply in this case. 

The defendant, in his opposition to application of the good-faith exception, has 

drawn analogies and distinctions between this case and multiple Sixth Circuit cases.  

First, the defendant likens his case to United States v. Weaver, 99 F.3d 1372 (6th Cir. 
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1996), in which the court determined that the officer did not rely in good faith on the 

invalid warrant because the affidavit was “so lacking in indicia of probable cause as to 

render official belief in its existence entirely unreasonable.”  Id. at 1380 (quoting Leon, 

468 U.S. at 915).  The affiant in Weaver had received a tip from a known confidential 

informant that the defendant was possibly conducting a marijuana sales operation, and 

the informant had learned of this operation from a third, anonymous individual.  Weaver, 

99 F.3d at 1374–75.  The informant then attempted to purchase marijuana from the 

defendant, but the detective–affiant did not conduct surveillance of this transaction.  Id. at 

1375.  After the drug transaction, the informant told the police that he believed the 

defendant was growing marijuana at the defendant’s residence, but the informant 

personally saw no indication of such an operation.  Id.  The detective–affiant took no 

steps to corroborate the informant’s story.  Id.   

The detective then applied for a search warrant, based strictly on information 

received from the informant and using predominantly boilerplate language in the 

affidavit.  Id.  The Sixth Circuit found that, “[a]s presented, the combined boilerplate 

language and minimal handwritten information provide few, if any, particularized facts of 

an incriminating nature and little more than conclusory statements of affiant’s belief that 

probable cause existed regarding criminal activity.”  Id. at 1379.  In finding that the 

affidavit did not present sufficient facts to support a finding of probable cause, the court 

noted that the detective “possessed only [the informant’s] tip linking [the defendant] to 

possible drug activities, yet undertook no substantive independent investigative actions to 
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corroborate his informant’s claims, such as surveillance of the [defendant’s] residence for 

undue traffic or a second controlled purchase made with officers viewing.”  Id.  The bare 

bones affidavit was so lacking in particular facts that the court found that the Leon 

good-faith exception did not apply.  Id. at 1380.  The Sixth Circuit reasoned that, “[w]ith 

little firsthand information and no personal observations, [the detective] should have 

realized that he needed to do more independent investigative work to show a fair 

probability that this suspect was either possessing, distributing, or growing marijuana.”  

Id.  Thus, the court stated, “We believe a reasonably prudent officer would have sought 

greater corroboration to show probable cause and therefore do not apply the Leon good 

faith exception on the facts of this case.”  Id. at 1381. 

Here, in contrast, the affiant relied in no part upon the statements of anonymous 

informants.  All facts set forth in the affidavit are grounded in police investigative work 

and surveillance.  The affidavit in this case does not utilize boilerplate language.  It relies 

upon the affiant’s personal knowledge and the collective knowledge of law enforcement 

working in conjunction, rather than unsubstantiated statements made by informants.  

Agent Poynter and his co-workers conducted independent investigative work in this case, 

and Agent Poynter relied upon personal as well as substantiated knowledge when drafting 

the affidavit.  Thus, the affidavit in this case, unlike in Weaver, is not “so lacking in 

indicia of probable cause as to render official belief in its existence entirely 

unreasonable.”  Leon, 486 U.S. at 915. 
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The defendant also attempts to differentiate this case from Schultz and Van 

Shutters [Doc. 86 pp. 6–7].  In Schultz, the Sixth Circuit held that, while the affiant–

officer’s “training and experience” was insufficient alone to establish a nexus between 

the items sought and the place to be searched, “the connection was not so remote as to 

trip on the ‘so lacking’ hurdle.”  14 F.3d at 1098.  In Van Shutters, the court concluded 

that, “even assuming that the district court’s probable cause determination was incorrect,” 

the affidavit was not “‘so lacking’ as to preclude application of the good faith exception.”  

163 F.3d at 337–38.   

The defendant attempts to draw distinctions between his case and the foregoing 

cases by arguing that the affiant failed to conduct any independent corroboration of facts 

linking the defendant to the criminal activity or the location to be searched [Doc. 86 p. 7].  

The defendant acknowledges, however, that the affidavit includes an instance where the 

defendant was seen leaving the cabin’s driveway while law enforcement was conducting 

surveillance of Southern Comfort [Id.].  Additionally, the defendant fails to recognize 

other links between the defendant and criminal activity and between the criminal activity 

and the place to be searched, as the Court has repeatedly addressed.  These include the 

GPS found in the abandoned vehicle on September 3 that led police to the string of PVR 

cabins, the statement of a victim that the kidnappers utilized a GPS device on July 7, the 

similarities between the September 3 event and the November 25 event, the notes in the 

defendant’s possession on November 25 containing bank addresses and phrases 
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resembling pieces of bank robbery plans, the defendant’s presence in the stolen vehicle 

that had departed from Southern Comfort on November 25, and so forth. 

Thus, after reading the warrant in a “practical, common sense manner,” Weaver, 

99 F.3d at 1378, the Court finds that “only a police officer with extraordinary legal 

training would have detected any deficiencies.”  Van Shutters, 163 F.3d at 337.  Indeed, 

the underlying affidavit in this case contains greater detail—corroborated by extensive 

police investigation—linking the place to be searched and the items sought than the 

affidavits in Schultz and Van Shutters.  As previously noted, the affidavit establishes a 

nexus irrespective of the affiant’s training and experience, and the affidavit relies in no 

part on informants’ tips.  It describes the criminal activities in great detail, lists items 

used by the suspects during execution of the offenses, and depicts the places to be 

searched with particularity.  See Van Shutters, 163 F.3d at 337 (taking these factors into 

account in determining that the good-faith exception applied).  Thus, the affidavit at hand 

does not qualify as a “bare bones” affidavit, which “states suspicions, or conclusions, 

without providing some underlying factual circumstances regarding veracity, reliability, 

and basis of knowledge.”  Weaver, 99 F.3d at 1378.  Rather, the affidavit could have been 

reasonably relied upon by the officers conducting the search of Southern Comfort.  This 

Court consequently finds that, although the warrant in this case was valid, evidence found 

pursuant to it should not be excluded at trial regardless of the warrant’s sufficiency, based 

on the good-faith exception. 
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IV. Conclusion 

Accordingly, upon a careful and de novo review of the record and the law, the 

Court finds that the recommendations contained in the R&R are correct.  Additionally, 

the Court finds that the evidence obtained from 380 Allison Drive pursuant to the search 

warrant would be admissible pursuant to the good-faith exception regardless of the search 

warrant’s validity.  Thus, the defendant’s objections [Doc. 76] are OVERRULED.  The 

Court also finds that further oral argument on this motion to suppress is not warranted, 

and the defendant’s request for oral argument [Doc. 76] is, therefore, DENIED. 

The Court ACCEPTS in whole the R&R [Doc. 65] and incorporates it into this 

Memorandum Opinion and Order.  The Court hereby DENIES the defendant’s Motion to 

Suppress Evidence Obtained at 380 Allison Drive (“Southern Comfort”) [Doc. 33] and 

DENIES as moot the defendant’s Omnibus Motion to Suppress All Subsequent Search 

Warrants [Doc. 34] because evidence seized during the search of Southern Comfort was 

not unconstitutionally obtained. 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 
 
 
     s/ Thomas A. Varlan     
     CHIEF UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE 
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No. 17-5867 
 

UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 
FOR THE SIXTH CIRCUIT 

 
 

 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 
 
 Plaintiff-Appellant, 
 
v. 
 
MICHAEL BENANTI, 
 
 Defendant-Appellee. 
 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

 

 

O R D E R 

 

 

 
 
 BEFORE: GILMAN, KETHLEDGE, and BUSH, Circuit Judges. 
 
 
 The court received a petition for rehearing en banc.  The original panel has reviewed the 

petition for rehearing and concludes that the issues raised in the petition were fully considered 

upon the original submission and decision of the case.  The petition then was circulated to the full 

court.  No judge has requested a vote on the suggestion for rehearing en banc. 

 Therefore, the petition is denied. 

 
 
 
      ENTERED BY ORDER OF THE COURT 
 
 
 
 
 
      Deborah S. Hunt, Clerk 
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United States Constitution, Amendment IV: 

The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, 

papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, 

shall not be violated, and no Warrants shall issue, but upon 

probable cause, supported by Oath or affirmation, and 

particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons 

or things to be seized. 
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28 U.S.C. § 2111: 

Harmless error— 

 

On the hearing of any appeal or writ of certiorari in any case, 

the court shall give judgment after an examination of the record 

without regard to errors or defects which do not affect the 

substantial rights of the parties. 

(Added May 24, 1949, ch. 139, § 110, 63 Stat. 105.) 
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Federal Rule of Evidence 403: 

Rule 403. Excluding Relevant Evidence for Prejudice, 

Confusion, Waste of Time, or Other Reasons— 

 

The court may exclude relevant evidence if its probative value 

is substantially outweighed by a danger of one or more of the 

following: unfair prejudice, confusing the issues, misleading the 

jury, undue delay, wasting time, or needlessly presenting 

cumulative evidence. 

(As amended Apr. 26, 2011, eff. Dec. 1, 2011.) 
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Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 52: 

Rule 52. Harmless and Plain Error— 

(a) Harmless Error. Any error, defect, irregularity, or variance 
that does not affect substantial rights must be disregarded. 

(b) Plain Error. A plain error that affects substantial rights 
may be considered even though it was not brought to the court’s 
attention. 

(As amended Apr. 29, 2002, eff. Dec. 1, 2002.) 
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UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 
FOR THE SIXTH CIRCUIT  

Deborah S. Hunt 
Clerk 

100 EAST FIFTH STREET, ROOM 540 
POTTER STEWART U.S. COURTHOUSE  

CINCINNATI, OHIO 45202-3988  
Tel. (513) 564-7000 

www.ca6.uscourts.gov

 
  Filed:  August 04, 2017 
 
 
Mr. Kevin Michael Schad 
Federal Public Defender's Office  
250 E. Fifth Street 
Suite 350 
Cincinnati, OH 45202 

  Re: Case No. 17-5867, USA v. Michael Benanti 
Originating Case No. : 3:15-cr-00177-1 

Dear Counsel, 

     This confirms your appointment to represent the defendant in the above appeal under the 
Criminal Justice Act, 18 U.S.C. § 3006A. 

     You must file your appearance form and order transcript within 14 days of this letter.  The 
appearance form and instructions for the transcript order process can be found on this court's 
website.  Please note that transcript ordering in CJA-eligible cases is a two-part process, 
requiring that you complete both the financing of the transcript (following the district court's 
procedures) and ordering the transcript (following the court of appeals' docketing 
procedures).  Additional information regarding the special requirements of financing and 
ordering transcripts in CJA cases can be found on this court's website at 
http://www.ca6.uscourts.gov/criminal-justice-act under "Guidelines for Transcripts in CJA 
Cases."  

     Finally, if you become aware that your client has financial resources not previously disclosed 
or is no longer eligible for appointed counsel under the Criminal Justice Act, please contact the 
Clerk or Chief Deputy for guidance. 

  Sincerely yours,  

    

  
s/Ken Loomis 
Administrative Deputy  
Direct Dial No. 513-564-7067  

cc:   Mr. Michael Benanti 
       Ms. Cheryl Borkowski 
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       Mr. David P. Lewen Jr. 
       Ms. Debra Poplin 
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Case No. 17-5867 

UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS  
FOR THE SIXTH CIRCUIT 

ORDER 

 

 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
 
                     Plaintiff - Appellee 
 
v. 
 
MICHAEL BENANTI 
 
                     Defendant – Appellant 
 
 

 Before:  GILMAN, KETHLEDGE, and BUSH, Circuit Judges. 

     Upon consideration of the motion of Kevin Schad to withdraw as counsel for 

the appellant and for the court to appoint counsel to proceed for any further 

proceedings, 

     It is ORDERED that the motion be and it hereby is GRANTED.  Replacement counsel 

shall be appointed under the CJA Act. 

  

  ENTERED BY ORDER OF THE COURT 

  Deborah S. Hunt, Clerk 

 
Issued: February 06, 2019    

___________________________________ 
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, USA v. Michael Benanti

No further notice will be provided that a voucher is 
due
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